# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**ALICE MITCHELL** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

SUPREME COURT NO. 2007-CA-01787

DAVID POYNOR



**APPELLEE** 

MAY 0 9 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

AN APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF CALHOUN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI EIGHTEENTH CHANCERY JUDICIAL DISTRICT

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

GEORGE M. MITCHELL, JR. ATTORNEY AT LAW P.O. DRAWER J EUPORA, MS 39744 PHONE: (662) 258-3691 MSB NO. 03361

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**ALICE MITCHELL** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

SUPREME COURT NO. 2007-CA-01787

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

ISSUE 1: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS NOT FINDING A LACK OF TESTAMENTARY CAPACITY AT THE TIME OF EXECUTION OF THE WILL AS WELL AS FAILURE TO PROPERLY FOLLOW ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES FOR THE EXECUTION TO BE VALID.

ISSUE 2: THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ROBERT WAYNE HALL AND DAVID POYNOR, BUT IT ERRED WHEN IT RULED THAT THIS WAS OVERCOME WITH CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

# THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALICE MITCHELL APPELLANT

VS.

SUPREME COURT NO. 2007-CA-01787

DAVID POYNOR

APPELLEE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an Appeal from the Chancery Court of Calhoun County, MS, concerning the actions of a long time friend, David Poynor, with Robert Wayne Hall, deceased, and his obtaining a Power of Attorney (RE I) and Will (RE 2) for Robert Wayne Hall. As recognized by the Court in its Opinion (RE 13) David Poynor and his wife, Lisa Poynor maintained a close relationship for over thirty- five (35) years with Robert Wayne Hall and further provided him with transportation, food, shared a joint bank account with him (RE 9) and Robert Wayne Hall executed a durable Power of Attorney in favor of David Poynor.

The Trial Court in its Opinion found that David Poynor overcame the presumption of undue influence by clear and convincing evidence even though he occupied both a confidential relationship as well as a fiduciary relationship with Robert Wayne Hall. This was further compounded by the fact that David Poynor was an active participate in the obtaining of the Power of Attorney, which was notarized by his daughter. He was the individual who obtained the services of a paralegal and a law firm to write the Last Will and Testament of Robert Wayne Hall, and he was very active in the execution of the Last Will and Testament of Robert Wayne Hall. The Court totally ignored all of these factors as well as the fact that David Poynor was the individual who paid for both the Power of Attorney involved in litigation as well as the Will. There was no independent advice and consent on the part of Robert Wayne Hall as to the preparation of the Last Will and Testament. All testimony presented in the Trial indicated that if any advice was to be given by the law firm it was to David

Poynor who was their client. Thus, Robert Wayne Hall never actually received any independent information from any party dealing with the distribution of his assets.

The Trial Court failed to consider as required by case law that at the time of the execution of the Last Will and Testament, the testator was to have full knowledge of his assets, his heirs, who controlled his assets, what affect it would have to either include or leave out family members, as well as the ramifications of giving such to non-family members. The testimony was very explicit that none of this was touched upon or even brought out at the time of the obtaining of information for the Last Will and Testament by Charles Brown on January 13, 2003, nor for sure was none of it considered or discussed on January 14 at night in the hospital room when David Poynor asked two (2) nurses to witness the signature of Robert Wayne Hall.

Additionally, when the Court considered the legality of the use of the Power of Attorney by David Poynor it ignored the law dealing with agent and ward as well as the fact that one could not substantiate the obtaining of assets for his or her own use from assets of the ward and support such by his or her testimony or someone closely related to them. This was what actually transpired in the case on appeal. The Court accepted the fact that David Poynor removed Thirty Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars (\$35,000.00) from a bank account and the only proof or authorization to such was that Robert Wayne Hall wanted him to do that and Lisa Poynor, David Poynor's wife, testified that she heard Robert Wayne Hall mention that also.

The rulings of the learned Chancellor are flawed in that on the day of the execution of the Will no testamentary capacity was established or proven, the totality surrounding the Last Will and Testament and the involvement of David Poynor cast very serious suspicious light upon the circumstances, none of the check lists as set forth and established by the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals were actually followed by the learned Chancellor when he evaluated the total circumstances in the Trial as well as the fact that no proof was offered granting authority to

David Poynor for the utilization of the Power of Attorney except his and his wife's testimony. Further just as a side note when David Poynor actually removed the monies from the joint account having knowledge that it was to go to Alice Mitchell in the Last Will and Testament he utilized a fictitious address, which was neither his, nor Robert Wayne Hall's at that time.

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

As to the circumstances surrounding the Power of Attorney, testimony in the Court below was that Robert Wayne Hall presented himself to the hospital for a checkup and at that time, he was accompanied by David Poynor's wife, Lisa Poynor. The two (2) of them according to hospital records gave information to the treating physician. Note should be made that at the time Robert Wayne Hall presented himself on this occasion he had lost twenty (20) pounds according to the records, suffered from severe headaches, and was not being able to prepare his own food nor able to get around. This reflects his true physical condition and is in line with someone suffering from a brain tumor.

The doctor did instruct Robert Wayne Hall that if he did need to get any affairs in order he should do such and it was noted in the medical records. (RE 3, RE 4) David Poynor's wife was present when this took place, and it is believed that she related the information back to her husband who in turn then supposedly received instructions from Robert Wayne Hall. The testimony was that the Power of Attorney was prepared by a paralegal, Charles Brown. He did such at the insistence of David Poynor. After the Power of Attorney was prepared, it was delivered to David Poynor from the law firm who in turn took it to North Mississippi Medical Center and his daughter notarized the signature of Robert Wayne Hall. Remembering that this is the Power of Attorney, which will later be used by David Poynor to remove Thirty Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars (\$35,000.00) from a joint survivorship account, that Robert Wayne Hall had with his sister, Alice Mitchell.

Later in Robert Wayne Hall's stay at North Mississippi Medical Center David Poynor requested a Will to be prepared for Robert Wayne Hall and at this point and time Charles Brown accompanied David Poynor to North Mississippi Medical Center. David Poynor provided the transportation and as well paid for the preparation of the Will. It should be noted also that David Poynor paid for the preparation of the Power of Attorney.

When the information was presented as to the preparation of the Will, no one could for sure state that David Poynor was out of the room the total time the conversations and discussion took place. The one thing for sure is that the notes of Charles Brown (RE 6) did include language dealing with the joint checking account between Robert Wayne Hall and Alice Mitchell and that it was to be hers. The reviewing attorney in the preparation of the Will did review the notes of Charles Brown and did advise that in order to be safe in the preparation of the Will that Charles Brown needed to include the serial number on the mobile home and vehicles. Why was not the joint checking account listed and placed in the Will is the question that does arise suspicious circumstances. Additional suspicious circumstances arise since David Poynor is the individual who took the Will for Robert Wayne Hall to review and execute. He had the Will in his possession and returned it back to the attorney's office. He had full access to it and knew what was contained therein. At that point and time, he had the Power of Attorney from Robert Wayne Hall.

Prior to the January 9, 2003, hospitalization of Robert Wayne Hall for his tumor the testimony was that David Poynor and his family did provide transportation for Robert Wayne Hall to the doctor, cleaned his home, prepared meals for him, provided Robert a free place on which to locate his mobile home, washed his clothes at time, helped him do other kind of matters, and on January 9, 2003, had a Power of Attorney prepared and used the Power of Attorney to establish a joint checking account.

The execution of the Will took place in Robert Wayne Hall's hospital room as well as the signing of the Power of Attorney. When the Power of Attorney was executed only David Poynor and his daughter, Christy Poynor Collins, were present. When the execution of the Will took place, only David Poynor and the two (2) nurses were present. The testimony of the two (2) nurses will be examined further when the issues are presented with some interesting questions to be examined.

The Trial Court even with all of David Poynor's involvement with the Power of Attorney and Will failed to find anything suspicious under the circumstances and in its Opinion found that David Poynor only did what a life long friend would do under the circumstances.

The Trial Court failed to take into consideration first the responsibilities connected with a confidential and fiduciary relationship as the one between Robert Wayne Hall and David Poynor. Next, the Court failed to properly apply the test for overcoming the burden of undue influence, which definitely existed as defined by case law and checklist provided by the Supreme Court. The Court filed to take into consideration the requirement of the duties of one who holds a fiduciary relationship with another. There was no proof presented that would overcome the guidelines and checklists established by the Supreme Court and sanctioned by the Court of Appeals when considering the involvement by David Poynor in the obtaining of the Power of Attorney and its utilization as well as the procurement of the Will which left everything to him.

The Court committed reversible error which the Appellant Court should take notice of after reviewing the issues as presented and reverse and render in favor of Alice Mitchell both as to the return of the monies obtained by use of the Power of Attorney and deliver of the assets conveyed by the Will back to her as next of kin by descent and distribution laws of the State of Mississippi.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE 1.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS NOT FINDING A LACK OF TESTAMENTARY CAPACITY AT THE TIME OF EXECUTION OF THE WILL AS WELL AS FAILURE TO PROPERLY FOLLOW ESTABLISHED PROCEDURES FOR THE EXECUTION TO BE VALID.

For the Court to have been able to make a determination that Robert Wayne Hall did in fact have testamentary capacity he would have had to listen to the testimony of the only three (3) individuals present at the time such occurred. The only individuals present at the time of the execution of the Will were David Poynor who inherited everything under the Last Will and Testament, Nurse Gwendolyn Gibson and Nurse LaDonna Miller McCarley. These would be the only three (3) individuals who posses knowledge of whether or not at the time of the execution of the Will whether or not Robert Wayne Hall met the required testamentary elements in order for the Court to declare a Last Will and Testament.

First, it is asked that the Court examine the testimony of Gwendolyn Gibson who was an RN treating Robert Wayne Hall on the Neuro floor. (T 33-35) It was Gwendolyn Gibson's testimony that Robert Wayne Hall had small cell carcinoma of the brain. (T 35) According to her Subpoena, she brought with her the medical records covering Robert Wayne Hall. (T 35) According to her testimony, Robert Wayne Hall on January 14 got a Decadron IV push, a Zantac PO, and Keppra, also PO. Keppra was a seizure medication, pepcid was an acid reflux medication and Decadron was a steroid anti-inflammatory. (T 38)

In response to any independent recall of signing the Will this nurse replied, "I remember signing a document". (T 43) When asked did she sign that at Mr. Hall's request her response was "I'm not for sure. I believe Mr. Poynor asked us if we could sign or witness him signing because he wanted to sign these documents". (T 43) There was no one else in the room that she recalled. (T 43)

In response to questions about his admission to the hospital, she testified from the records that his admission was 1/9/03 and information was provided by a close friend was what she said the document said. There was testimony from Nurse Gibson that Robert Wayne Hall was seen as stated by the records being Exhibit "3B". His neuro surgeon diagnosed him with a principal diagnosis of Metastic right frontal brain tumor. Secondary complications along with small cell lung cancer, chronic obstruction pulmonary disease. (T 47) There was also another consulting physician who saw Robert Wayne Hall on January 10, 2003, and that was Dr. Charles Montgomery according to the records. (T 48)

This witness for the proponent of the Will, David Poynor, testified from the medical records that the operation was to keep Robert Wayne Hall comfortable and maybe prolong his life. It was to keep him where he was not in so much pain. (T 51) From the records her testimony went on with "it says I had a lengthy discussion tonight with the patient and his girlfriend regarding the indication, alternative hope for benefit and possible complications associated with surgery versus a non operative approach including death, stroke, permanent neurological deficits, myocardial infraction, infection requiring further surgery, and prolonged antibiotics. Cerebral spinal fluid is the CSF. (T 52)

She was asked by Attorney Scott if the doctor was telling him that he hoped to relieve some of his pain but he could die or get worse when he got through. Her answer was "correct". (T 53)

The only indication whatsoever that was ever presented in the course of the Trail in regards to Robert Wayne Hall and his testamentary capacity at the signing of the Will was that he was checked by nurses at times to determine whether he was alert and oriented to person, place and time and situation. This was the testimony of Gwendolyn Gibson. (T 58) None of this occurred at the signing of the Will by Robert Wayne Hall.

On cross-examination by attorney Mitchell for Alice Mitchell, Gwendolyn Mitchell testified from the medical records Exhibit "3B" that Mr. Hall had been doing fairly well until approximately

two (2) weeks prior to his admission. At that time, he began to develop a persistent headache. The headache was similar to the headache he had when diagnosed with brain metastisis only more severe. (T 65) The records further reflected weakness of his lower extremity and unsteadiness of gate. (T65)

The nurse Gwendolyn Gibson admitted that from the record it would appear that Robert Wayne Hall had been suffering from persistent headaches severe in nature. (T 66) Further testifying from Exhibit "3B" it was brought out that "Mr. Hall has been in fairly good health until recently. He has lost twenty (20) pounds in weight. He has had no fever. He does complain of fatigue and headache". (T 57) This document further went on to state that Robert Wayne Hall did wear glasses. (T 67) Also, it made reference to the fact that he had some mild memory loss. (T 67)

Nurse Gibson was further questioned and was presented Exhibit "3B" and then asked to read three (3) lines. "Reveals and emaciated, cachectic and poorly nourished, chronically ill appearing white male in no distress. He is afebrile with stable vital signs". When questioned about this the nurse testified that poorly nourished meant that it would tie in with losing twenty (20) pounds and chronically ill meant long periods of illness. (T 69) This witness did admit on cross-examination appearing from the medical records that Robert Wayne Hall would be an individual who was somewhat weakened and ravished by his medical condition. (T 69) In addition, she testified that he had severe headaches. (T 69)

This witness further did admit that under the conditions described in the medical records of Robert Wayne Hall that under such conditions a person as described like Robert would have problems being able to think coherently. (T 69-70) At times, his ability to be coherent would be affected. (T 70)

When questioned about her involvement in this matter on cross-examination this witness related, "From what I can recall of the incident, we were making rounds and Mr. Poynor said that Mr. Hall wanted us to witness a document. And when LaDonna and I went into the room we

witnessed him signing that document". (T 72) She did not recall anyone else reading it to him. (T 72) She was not sure if he had on his glasses or not. (T 72) To the best of her recollection, no one read the Will to Robert Wayne Hall. (T 73) All that she remembered was him signing his name and could not recall any conversations with him afterward. (T 74)

In examination of what nurse LaDonna Miller McCarty had to say on direct examination it was brought out that she was an RN (T 82) and that on Exhibit "2" being the Last Will and Testament proportedly of Robert Wayne Hall that it looked like her signature on it. (T 83) She did admit that she recalled signing it. (T 83)

Then an unusual circumstance developed from the cross-examination of Nurse McCarty in that it was brought to her attention that the Will and the Affidavit were on two (2) different dates. This was two (2) different incidences. (T 85) This witness at that point testified that the only thing she recalled was one night. When asked if she recalled just signing documents one night her answer was "Yes sir, that's the only one I recall". (T 86) When asked about Christy Poynor Collins she testified that she had met her outside of the courtroom. (T 86) When asked, "So to your knowledge, having met her outside, she never notarized any signature for you" and her response was "No, Sir" (T 86) (RE11) When asked about the time the Will was signed she had no independent recollection. (T 87) Further, when questioned about who was present when it took place, this witness testified that she was uncertain except that it was she and Gwen in the room but she knew David Poynor was. (T 87)

She did not recall if Robert Wayne Hall told her that this was his Will. (T 87) She did not even remember how she was recruited for being a witness to the Will. (T 87-88)

Then the only other person involved at the time of the execution of the Will was David Poynor. He was called as an adverse witness in the Trial. (T 91) In questioning him about what had transpired and how he was involved in the Will, he testified about going to the James's Law Office.

He and Charlie Brown rode together one (1) day to get the information at North Mississippi Medical Center. (T 105) During the time that Charlie Brown was obtaining the information to be included in the Last Will and Testament of Robert Wayne Hall, David Poynor could have been in and out of the room or came in at the end. (T 106)

He was questioned about who was present when the Will was signed, and he testified that he was there, possibly his daddy-in-law and maybe two (2) nurses. (T 108) The Will was signed in his presence with two (2) witnesses. (T 109) He did admit however, that he was not sure about anyone being in the room other than him and the two (2) nurses. (T 109) The testimony was that in response to any of Robert Wayne Hall's relatives being there he did not remember. (T 109) He admitted that he probably paid for the Will. (T 109) David Poynor when questioned about whether anybody read the Will to Robert Wayne Hall in their presence he testified "not that I am aware of". (T 115) He related that "I went and told them that Robert needed them to come down there, that he had some papers that he needed to sign". (T 115)

The following cross-examination occurred of David Poynor as to the Will and Power of Attorney:

- Q. Okay, and it was your testimony on January 14, 2003, that Robert's demeanor, that there was nothing wrong with him prior to the signing of the Will.
- A. I didn't say nothing was wrong with him. I just said that it did not appear that you know, anything that his head was hurting him or anything like that.
- Q. Okay. But still nobody read him the Will did they?
- A. I can't say that. I wasn't in there all the time.
- Q. Nobody ever read the Will in your presence?
- A. Not that I saw, No, Sir, he had it himself.Q. Nobody ever read him the Power of Attorney in your presence?
- A. Not that I am aware of. (T 145-146)

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