## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALICE MITCHELL

**APPELLANT** 

V.

SUPREME COURT NO. 2007-CA-01787

DAVID POYNOR

APPELLEE

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Alice Mitchell, Appellant (Plaintiff), 979 Peppertown Rd., Eupora, MS 39744;
- 2. David Poynor, Appellee (Defendant), Big Creek, MS 38914;

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The learned chancellor below explicitly set out the facts and applied the appropriate law thereto in his thorough opinion following the two (2) day trial of this matter.

As the finder of "ultimate fact or of evidentiary fact," with more than "substantial evidence [to] support [ ] [his] findings[,]" the findings of the chancellor below warrant affirmation from this Honorable court.

The medical records and the essence of almost all testimony in the two (2) day trial below provided overwhelming evidence that Mr. Robert Hall was at all relevant times lucid, clear thinking and in fact, quite independent. That is, excluding the immediate days following his surgery and the immediate days before his death, Mr. Robert Hall more than retained sufficient metal capacity to execute his Power of Attorney and Last Will and Testament.

Being in a trusted relationship with Mr. Robert Hall for some time, David Poynor was afforded more than enough opportunity to take advantage of his friend Mr. Robert Hall, if that had in fact been his intent. Although David Poynor had been appointed by Mr. Hall as his attorney-in-fact on January 10, 2003, the record was clear that he conducted no business whatsoever in that capacity until Mr. Hall's final diagnosis with the return of the cancer. In April 2003, Robert Hall knew that, barring a miracle, his health would deteriorate until finally, death would arrive. Robert Hall did not know how long he would linger. He did, however, know his friends, David and Lisa Poynor, would assist in caring for him. He knew there would likely be expenses incurred in caring for him and that he had funds that would hopefully take care of those expenses. He knew that David and Lisa Poynor needed to have access to his money if they were not going to have to be out any of his expenses from their personal funds.

The evidence below was totally lacking that David Poynor acted in any way contrary to

(citing <u>Culbreath v. Johnson</u>, 427 So.2d 705, 707-708 (Miss. 1983)); <u>Bullard v. Morris</u>, 547 So.2d 789, 791 (Miss. 1989); <u>Johnson v. Hinds County</u>, 524 So.2d 947, 956 (Miss. 1998).

And the chancellor, being the only one to hear the testimony of witnesses and observe their demeanor, is to judge their credibility. He is best able to determine the veracity of their testimony, and this Court will not undermine the chancellor's authority by replacing his judgment with its own. See <u>Mullins v. Ratcliff</u>, 515 So.2d 1183, 1189 (Miss. 1987); <u>Hall v. State ex rel. Waller</u>, 247 Miss. 896, 903, 157 So.2d 781, 784 (1963).

Madden v. Rhodes, 626 So.2d 608, 616 (Miss. 1993). See also In Re: Estate of Crutcher, 911 So.2d 961, 966 (Miss. App. 2004).

The learned chancellor below was the trier of facts. He observed all witnesses, testimony and evidence presented at the two (2) day trial of the matter.

Following the trial, the chancellor ordered respective counsel for the parties to submit proposed findings of facts and conclusions of law.

Thereafter, the chancellor entered a lengthy opinion in which he meticulously set out the facts, applicable law and analysis of the facts within the appropriate law.

Essentially, Mrs. Mitchell asserts that the learned chancellor erred in his findings of facts, i.e., in the weight and credibility he appropriated the testimony and evidence.

Clearly, the chancellor was in the best position to weigh the evidence and credibility of the testimony and evidence. He did so in his thorough nineteen (19) page opinion.

In considering "the entire record", accepting "all those facts and reasonable inferences therefrom which support the chancellor's findings[,]" it is clear that the learned chancellor below did not "abuse[] his discretion, was [not] manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous," and did not apply "an erroneous legal standard[.]" See Madden, supra.

### II. TESTAMENTARY CAPACITY

The Supreme Court of Mississippi has clearly set forth the analysis to assist in determining the mental capacity of a testator at the time of execution of a will. In summary, the test is set forth as follows:

[T]he test of one's capacity to execute a will "is the ability of the testator at the time to understand and appreciate the nature and effect of his act, the natural objects or persons to receive his bounty, and their relation to him, and is capable of determining what disposition he desires to make of his property."

In Re: Estate of Isaac Crutcher, Deceased: 911 So.2d 961, 966 (Miss. App. 2004) (citing, In Re: Estate of Byrd, 749 So.2d 1214, 1217 (Mis. Ct. App. 1999); Matter of Estate of Edwards, 520 So.2d 1370, 1372 (Miss. 1988) (quoting, Humes v. Krauss, 221 Miss. 301, 310, 72 So.2d 737, 739 (1954))).

The <u>Crutcher</u> court went on to reiterate the well settled maxim in Mississippi law that "[t]estamentary capacity 'is to be tested as of the date of the execution of the will." <u>Crutcher</u> at 966, (citing <u>Byrd</u>, 749 So.2d at 1217 (citations omitted)). "The proponents of a will "must prove the testator's testamentary capacity by the preponderance of the evidence." <u>Id</u>. (citations omitted).

The contestant of Mr. Robert Hall's Will, Ms. Alice Mitchell, only offered vague, unspecific testimony that Mr. Robert Hall lacked testamentary capacity at the time he executed his Will on January 14, 2003. In fact, the overwhelming weight of the evidence showed that Mr. Hall was lucid, coherent and fully capable of understanding the nature of his act, the persons receiving his bounty and the disposition of his gift. The medical records are replete with regular neurochecks, as well as the indications of lengthy and very serious conversations with the doctor. Just five days earlier, Mr. Hall admitted himself to the hospital and provided the necessary

admissions information. Additionally, the subscribing witnesses, Ms. Pannell Gibson, a registered nurse on the neuro floor during Mr. Hall's stay and Ms. LaDonna Miller, an LPN on the neuro floor during Mr. Hall's hospital stay, both testified that though it had been some time and their memory was a bit foggy, they recalled seeing nothing in Mr. Hall or in his medical records to indicate that he was not lucid, coherent and aware of what was going on around him and capable of making decisions.

In fact, Charlie Brown who interviewed Mr. Hall relative to his Will, testified that Mr. Hall was very alert, very coherent, direct and to the point about his wishes for the disposition of his property if and when he passed away. He knew the property he had, from the personal property of his mobile home, his trucks, dogs, guns, as well as money that he had in a bank and a life insurance policy to which his sister was the beneficiary. (T340; RE148)

Although Ms. Mitchell alleged in her pleadings that Mr. Hall had been "under the influence of strong medications due to his terminal illness[,] [f]urther, [h]e had been under this type of medication for some period of time[,]" she produced no evidence that Mr. Hall had been under a regular regime of prescription and/or narcotic pain medication. On the contrary, Mr. Hall's prescription profile, Exhibit 8 in the Record and RE77-78, revealed that Mr. Hall indeed was not taking any regularly prescribed pain medication, as did the hospital records. In fact, as Alice Mitchell's testimony progressed, she herself expressed that she was concerned about the amount of Tylenol her brother was taking. That is, she testified she saw a number of Tylenol bottles on his coffee table, her concern notwithstanding, she made no inquiry of her brother regarding the consumption of Tylenol or what was actually in the bottles. Neither did she ask David or Lisa Poynor about the Tylenol. (T22-23) In fact, it turned out that Robert Hall saved quarters in the bottles. (T299)

Additionally, Ms. Mitchell offered no expert testimony to support her proposition that her brother was incapable of making a will on January 14, 2003.

The <u>Crutcher</u> court also clarified that "[t]he proponents of a will "must prove the testator's testamentary capacity by the proponderance of the evidence."" <u>Crutcher</u> at 966 (citing, Matter of Estate of Edwards, 520 So.2d 1370, 1373 (Miss. 1988)).

<u>Crutcher</u> went on to note that "while the proponents may have to carry the burden of proof at trial, "the burden of going forward with proof of testamentary incapacity shifts to the contestants, who must overcome the prima facie case."" <u>Crutcher</u> at 966 (citing <u>Edwards</u> at 1373).

Also, the <u>Crutcher</u> court noted that "[t]he Supreme Court has held that "the testimony of subscribing witnesses is entitled to greater weight than the testimony of witnesses who were not present at the time of the will's execution or did not see the testator on the day of the will's execution." <u>Crutcher</u> at 966, (citing <u>Edwards</u> at 1373). David Poynor would respectfully submit that Charlie Brown's testimony is likewise entitled to greater weight, given Mr. Brown's lengthy and extensive experience, and the time he spent alone with Mr. Hall solely for the purpose of determining whether in fact Mr. Hall even desired a will and if so did he appear competent, aware of his possessions, natural heirs and clearly express his wishes and intentions for the disposition of worldly goods upon his death. Charlie Brown unequivocally testified that he was convinced of Mr. Hall's testamentary capacity. (T343; RE150)

Based on the uncontroverted facts set forth herein, Ms. Mitchell offered nothing substantive to overcome the plethora of evidence that Mr. Hall was possessed of testamentary capacity on January 14, 2003.

There simply was no substantive or credible evidence that Mr. Hall lacked testamentary

capacity on the day he executed his Will. That is, the evidence offered in an attempt to overcome the evidence of Mr. Hall's testamentary capacity was totally lacking.

#### III. CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP

The factors set forth by the Mississippi Supreme Court in determining whether or not a confidential relationship exists between a testator and beneficiary are well settled. They include, inter alia, "whether one person maintains joint accounts with another," and "whether there exists a power of attorney between the one and the other." See In Re: Estate of Thornton, 922 So.2d 850, 852 (Miss. App. 2006). From the evidence presented at trial, including testimony and exhibits, it is clear that concession must be made that pursuant to the Power of Attorney executed on January 10, 2003, a confidential relationship existed between David Poynor and Mr. Robert Hall. Likewise, we would respectfully point out to the Court that a confidential relationship existed between Alice Mitchell and her brother, Robert Hall, via a purported joint account at BancorpSouth.

It is well settled law in Mississippi that "there is a presumption of undue influence where there is a bequest by a testator to one in fiduciary relationship with the testator if the fiduciary has any involvement in the preparation of the will." In Re: Estate of Smith, 827 So.2d 673, 678 (Miss. 2002). The Mississippi Supreme Court has set out factors and analysis of the same that the proponent of the will, that is, a fiduciary of the testator, must show by clear and convincing evidence to overcome this presumption. The three factors and attending analyses are as follows:

- 1. The beneficiaries must have acted in good faith.
  - a. Who initiated the procurement of a will?
  - b. Where was the will executed and in whose presence?
  - c. What consideration was paid?

- d. Who paid the consideration?
- e. Was there secrecy or openness in the execution?
- 2. The [testator] must have had full knowledge and deliberation in the execution.
  - a. Was the [testator] aware of [his] total assets and their general value?
  - b. Did the [testator] understand who [his] natural inheritors were?
  - c. Did the [testator] understand how the change would legally effect prior wills?
  - d. Did the [testator] know that non-relative beneficiaries would be included?
  - e. Did the [testator] know who controlled [his] finances and by what method?
    - [I] How dependent is the [testator] on those handling [his] finances?
    - [ii] How susceptible is [he] to influence by those handling [his] finances?
- 3. The [testator] must have exhibited independent consent and action.

In Re: Estate of Smith, 722 So.2d 606, 612 (Miss. 1998).

Providing further illumination on the legal concept of "presumption of undue influence," is in In Re: Estate of Crutcher, where the court elaborated that "[a] presumption of undue influence is not raised merely because a beneficiary occupies a confidential relationship with the testator; something more is required, such as active participation by the beneficiary in the procurement, preparation or execution of the will or mental infirmity of the testator." Crutcher at 968 (citing Croft v. Alder, 237 Miss. 713, 115 So.2d 683 (1959)). "In other words, there must be some showing that [the beneficiary] abused the relationship either by asserting dominance over the testator or by substituting her intent for that of the [testator]." Id., (citing, Matter of Will of Wasson, 562 So.2d 74, 78 (Miss. 1990)(citation omitted)). (emphasis added).

A. In considering whether or not David abused his fiduciary relationship with Robert, either by asserting dominance over Robert or substituting his will for that of Robert's, that is,

whether or not he exhibited good faith in his relationship with Robert, one piece of evidence would include Alice's own testimony. Alice testified that she was not accusing David of abusing his relationship with Robert or taking advantage of Robert, rather she merely did not understand why Robert would change his mind after having told her some time before that when he died she and the boys would get what he had. (T198; RE144) In fact, while in a confidential relationship by virtue of a purported joint account with Robert herself, Alice testified she made a special trip to see Robert and twice attempted to discuss with him making a will and in effect getting his affairs in order. (See T168; RE133) Robert's unwillingness to discuss this with Alice is clear and convincing evidence of his unwillingness to be influenced or dominated by someone else's intent.

As to the initiation of the January 14, 2003, executed Will of Robert Hall, it was David's testimony that Robert asked him to contact Terry James' office in an effort to have a will prepared before his January 16, 2003, scheduled brain surgery. Robert, as indicated in the medical records, and other testimony, was acutely aware of the seriousness of the operation and the potential for death and any other number of possible poor outcomes.

Although the Will was executed in David's presence, it was witnessed by two disinterested medical personnel, that being, an RN and an LPN on duty at the time, and who were familiar with Mr. Robert Hall. Mr. Hall was to undergo brain surgery in less than 48 hours from the time his Will was executed, thereby clearly rendering these to be exigent circumstances. It is not as though Mr. Hall could simply excuse himself from the hospital, go see an attorney and tend to what could have very well been his final affairs of life.

Inasmuch as David was the one to pick up the Will, as well as the Power of Attorney, and knowing his friend was in the hospital facing such a serious and life threatening disease and

operation, it does not defy common courtesy for him to have paid what would actually amount to a nominal price for the Will and Power of Attorney, as it was estimated by Terry James and/or Charlie Brown that the consideration paid was probably \$100 or less for both documents, as neither had clear recall as to the price.

A textbook example of a will being sought to be executed in secrecy is provided in In Re: Estate of Evans, 830 So.2d 699 (Miss. 2002), wherein the sole beneficiary of the purported will was an elderly woman claiming that she and decedent had conducted themselves as a married couple over the last fifteen years, even though they lived about a quarter of a mile apart. In that case, the beneficiary took handwritten instructions to an attorney, from which the will was drafted and the beneficiary picked up the will and carried it around in her purse for three days before it was executed. Evans at 700. In fact, the beneficiary waited until her brother and daughter-in-law could accompany her to the hospital to serve as witnesses for the will. Id. at 700, 701.

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